THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000247

RECEIVED
JUL 27 2016
SC Court of Appeals

Lake Estates Property Owners Association, Inc.,.....Appellant,

v.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err when it granted Miller Construction of the Low Country, Inc. a directed verdict and held there was no evidence that Miller Construction was negligent or breached the implied warranty of workmanlike service even though there was evidence that Miller Construction's work violated industry standards during construction?
- II. Does the trial court's error in granting Miller Construction of the Low Country, Inc.'s a directed verdict require a new trial against all defendants because there is no way to be sure how the wrongful dismissal of a co-defendant affected the jury's deliberation on the assignment of fault against the remaining defendants?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the trial courts directed verdict in favor of Miller Construction of the Low Country, Inc. ("Miller Construction") and the jury verdict in favor of Lake Estates, LLC ("Lake Estates") and Estate Builders, Inc. ("Estate Builders").

The Summons and Complaint was filed by Lake Estates Property Owners Association, Inc. ("POA") in this matter on June 11, 2012, alleging causes of action against the Defendants related to defective construction work. A jury trial was held before the Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith from January 11 through 14, 2016. After the close of the Plaintiff's case in chief, the trial court directed a verdict in favor of Miller Construction by reason that there was no evidence of Miller Construction's negligence or that they breached an implied warranty of workmanlike service. Trial Tr. 571:3-9. Plaintiff moved twice for the court to reconsider its directed verdict in favor of Miller Construction. Trial Tr. 722:5-22; 813-21. The trial continued against Lake Estates and Estate Builders.¹ The jury found for Lake Estates and Estate Builders on all causes of action. Trial Tr. 921:13-18. Notice of Intent to Appeal was timely filed. This appeal

¹ Miller Construction remained in the trial due to the cross claim of Lake Estates until those claims were resolved the morning of the last day of trial.

revolves around whether the decision of the trial court to direct a verdict for Miller Construction was correct.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

During the construction of a condominium development in Bluffton, South Carolina, the developer, general contractor, and subcontractor failed to have a grading and drainage plan for the site, set the exterior grade to close to the finished floor, and failed to properly grade the site to prevent standing water. Because of those failures, the homeowners in the development have suffered damage to their homes and the common area. Through the POA, these homeowners brought this suit.

In 2006, Warren Flick, Russell Miller, and Spain Kelly formed Lake Estates, LLC to build multifamily luxury condominiums, called coach homes, in the Hampton Lake development in Bluffton, South Carolina. Trial Tr. 583:1-584:2. Spain Kelley left the LLC at the end of 2006 leaving Flick and Miller as the remaining partners. Mr. Flick was to supply the customer service portion of the business while Mr. Miller would provide the construction through his two companies, Estate Builders, Inc. and Miller Construction of the Low Country, Inc.. Trial Tr. 607:17-608:3; 760:15-761:5.

Lake Estates LLC proposed building the coach homes on a piece of land adjacent to the Hampton Lake amenities center and the main lake in the larger development. During the initial design stages of the development, Flick and Miller were the only partners and the only employees of the LLC. Lake Estates, LLC purchased the land from Hampton Lake after presenting their subdevelopment ideas. The entire project was broken down into phases where a smaller portion of the entire project would be

purchased and developed before Lake Estates would purchase the next phase of the overall subdivision project.

The building design and blueprints for the Lake Estates subdivision was borrowed from a condominium development in Florida. Trial Tr. 583:12-584:6; 737:8-19. Lake Estates hired Thomas & Hutton to perform due diligence work at the subdivision in the first step of the site development. Trial Tr. 586:14-17; 809:18-811:8. The due diligence work consisted of "site evaluation and assistance for the purchaser of the property, their initial review of the property." Trial Tr. 809:25-810:2. Thomas & Hutton performed this due diligence work from July 2006 through October 2008.² Trial Tr. 783:13-784:9; 785:17-19.

After the start of the due diligence phase, Thomas & Hutton sent a proposal to do the engineering work at the site as part of its development. Trial Tr. 810:3-811:8. Flick and Miller never accepted or responded to Thomas & Hutton's proposal. Trial Tr. 765:14-766:2; 778:6-20; 783:13-784:9. Thomas & Hutton withdrew the proposal for engineering work and recommended that Flick and Miller hire an engineer to do the necessary design work at the site. *See* 790:9-791:24; 810:12-811:8.

During trial, Flick and Miller testified that Thomas & Hutton performed engineering work at the site, including creating a site grading and drainage plan. Trial Tr. 586:14-17; 607:17-608:3; 739:1-14; 755:25-758:18. On rebuttal, Thomas & Hutton testified that they were hired only to do due diligence work and never entered into a contract to perform engineering services at the Lake Estates development. Trial Tr.

² Thomas & Hutton only billed Lake Estates and Estate Builders under the due diligence phase since no engineering services agreement was ever signed. Trail Tr. 785:17-23; 801:12-16.

811:17-21; 809:18-811:8. To do engineering work at the site, Thomas & Hutton required Lake Estates, LLC to enter into an engineering contract. Trial Tr. 810:3-16. Lake Estates never entered into an engineering agreement with Thomas & Hutton. Trial Tr. 810:12-16. Thomas & Hutton asked numerous times whether Lake Estates needed engineering work done at the site without any response from Lake Estates, LLC. Trial Tr. 765:14-766:2; 778:6-20; 783:13-784:9 (email from Thomas & Hutton that any drawings are for due diligence and not for construction).

The structural plans for the coach homes show David Sladek, PE, as the engineer of record for the structural engineering design, but those drawings do not include design or engineering drawings for the grading and drainage at the development. Robert Norman was the architect of record for the architectural drawings of the coach homes. Both individuals were deceased prior to the filing of the lawsuit.³ Trial Tr. 738:2-8.

During the construction phase, problems with standing water manifested themselves around the development. Lake Estates made repairs to multiple units that exhibited standing water and observed other locations within the development that had the same standing water problem. Trial Tr. 598:24-600:1; 616:10-617:7. As home owners started to move into the development, they noticed problems with standing water, drainage issues, and overflowing gutters and reported to these problems to Lake Estates. Trial Tr. 279:3-11; 293:9-302:21; 304:2-304:7; 479:6-19; 483:19-488:18; 492:1-500:15.

By mid-2010, homeowners sought to transfer control of the POA from Flick. The first step was requesting the approval of a transition committee which was approved in late 2010. 269:13-274:23. The transition committee specifically sought funding for a

³ Both Mr. Sladek and Mr. Norman were deceased prior to the initiation of this lawsuit.

third party engineer to certify the development constructed to code and free of defective construction. Trial Tr. 279:16-280:5. The owners of the coach homes sought control of the Property Owners Association from Lake Estates and Flick. Flick resisted turning control of the POA to the home owners. Trial Tr. 282:1-284:20. One of the requirements for turning over control of the POA was for the homeowners to sign a hold harmless agreement. Trial Tr. 305:22-306:5; 649:18-20. This agreement would have limited any liability Flick or Lake Estates would have to the home owners or the development. Trial Tr. 305:22-306:5.

During the transition process, the homeowners hired an engineer, Mr. John Kern, P.E., to review the development and identify areas of concern and deficiencies in the construction of the development. Trial Tr. 274:1-8. The engineer was given a list of items that the homeowners thought were concerns and was asked to produce his own list of deficiencies that needed to be addressed prior to the developer turning over control of the POA. Trial Tr. 273:19-274:19. From his inspection of the site, Mr. Kern found the site grading to be flat and lacking the proper drop off or drainage mechanisms and not enough drop from the finished floor elevations to the exterior grade. Trial Tr. 361:23-364:22; 367:22-369:22; 373:1-14.

The homeowners passed along the engineering deficiency report to Lake Estates in late 2010. Trial Tr. 280:18-281:4. Lake Estates did not perform any repairs to the site grading and drainage after it received the engineering report detailing these construction defects. Trial Tr. 282:1-17. In the spring of 2011, the homeowners filed a lawsuit to force Lake Estates to hand over control of the POA. Following the bankruptcy of Lake

Estates and a new developer purchasing the land, that lawsuit was settled and control of the POA was placed into the hands of the homeowners by the new developer.

In the subsequent years, the POA took many steps to mitigate the problems at the site to lessen the long term damage to the development from the grading and drainage problems. Trial Tr. 293:9-298:12; 304:2-7; 304:16-18; 498:25-499:11. But, the problem of the standing water, poor drainage, and flat grade remain. Trial Tr. 498:22-24 (mitigation work did not change the general grade).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When upon a trial the case presents only questions of law the judge may direct a verdict.” Rule 50(a), SCRPC. In ruling on a motion for directed verdict, a trial court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *S.C. Fed. Credit Union v. Higgins*, 394 S.C. 189, 193-94, 714 S.E.2d 550, 552 (2011). A trial court must deny a motion for directed verdict where either the evidence yields more than one inference or its inference is in doubt. *Law v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 368 S.C. 424, 434, 629 S.E.2d 642, 648 (2006). “A motion for a directed verdict goes to the entire case and may be granted only when the evidence raises no issue for the jury as to liability.” *Hartfield v. Getaway Lounge & Grill, Inc.*, 388 S.C. 407, 415, 697 S.E.2d 558, 562 (2010). The trial court should be concerned only with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, and not with the credibility or weight of the evidence. *Higgins*, 394 S.C. at 194, 714 S.E.2d at 552. The standard of review likewise requires this court to view the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Id.*

ARGUMENT

This should not be a difficult case. Although the evidence is contested, it ought to be apparent that there is at least some evidence of Miller Construction's negligence and that they breached the implied warranty of workmanlike service. The law seems to plainly establish that a defendant who constructs a new home without a specific grading and drainage plan or who relies on others who do not use this plan during construction breaches the industry standard of care and a reasonable jury could agree. The trial court said that there was "no" evidence that Miller Construction was negligent or that they breached the implied warranty of workmanlike service. Respectfully, this reasoning was wrong.

This error by the trial court requires a new trial as to all the defendants. Without Miller Construction as part of their deliberation, the jury could not evaluate the level of fault between the defendants. The presence of Miller Construction during deliberation could allow the jury to assign a majority of the fault to them while assigning a smaller percentage to Lake Estates and Estate Builders. Without Miller Construction as part of the deliberation process, the jury may have felt it was inequitable to place 100% of the blame on the combination of Lake Estates or Estate Builders. No equation can tell us how much liability the jury would have assigned to the empty chair at the defendants' table. When multiple defendants could be liable on the same claim, in the interest of justice, this case requires a new trial granted as to all the defendants.

- I. **The trial court erred when it held that there was no evidence of Miller Construction's negligence or breach of implied warranty. Evidence of Miller Construction's violation of industry standards during construction is evidence of Miller Construction's negligence and breach of implied warranty of workmanlike service.**

If a defendant violates an industry standard during construction of residential homes, that violation constitutes evidence of negligence and a breach of the implied warranty of workmanlike service. A successful negligence claim requires the defendant to have breached the standard of care, and the standard of care in a given case can be established by the common law, by statutes, by industry standards, or by a defendant's own policies and guidelines. *Madison ex rel. Bryant v. Babcock Ctr.*, 371 S.C. 123, 140, 638 S.E.2d 650, 659 (2006) (citing *Peterson v. Nat'l R.R. Passenger Corp.*, 365 S.C. 391, 397, 618 S.E.2d 903, 906 (2005)). Additionally, a successful breach of implied warranty of workmanlike service claim requires evidence that a residence was not "constructed in a careful, diligent, workmanlike manner." *Smith v. Breedlove*, 377 S.C. 415, 422, 661 S.E.2d 61, 71 (2008).

A. Testimony of Mr. John Kern, P.E.

Plaintiff's expert, John Kern, P.E., was asked by the homeowners, prior to them taking control of the POA, to inspect the site and identify issues in its construction. He was given a list of items identified by the homeowners as areas of concern, but was asked to make any observations independent of that list regarding potentially defective construction at the development. Trial Tr. 281:5-25 (Tommy Kendall - homeowner); Trial Tr. 360:10-361:22 (Kern). Mr. Kern was qualified as an expert in civil and structure engineering in construction defects at trial. Trial Tr. 353:1 to 358:18. From his inspection of the site, he found the site grading and drainage to be defective and that the work violated industry standards. Trial Tr. 361:23-364:22; 367:22-369:22; 373:1-14.

At trial, Mr. Kern testified regarding the industry standard of care for the installation of site grading and drainage at a residential development. Mr. Kern's opinion

stated the defendants violated the industry standard of care by not having the finished floor elevation 8 inches above the exterior grade, not having a site grading and drainage plan, and the development did not have the required grading slope and additional drainage mechanisms to prevent standing water near the buildings. Trial Tr. 361:23-364:22; 366:25-367:5; 370:24-371:5; 371:21-372:4; 373:1-14; 401:7-17.

Mr. Kern stated there could not have been a site grading and drainage plan done at the site based on his observations of the development. Trial Tr. 364:15-22; 370:24-371:5; 371:21-372:4; 373:1-14. This statement was supported by the defendant's failure to produce a site grading or drainage plan during discovery. Trial Tr. 364:9-22; 369:15-22; 372:16-22 (Kern); 294:15-21; 304:8-18 (Kendall); 497:12-22 (Robert Kimmig - homeowner). As the case progressed, the defendants failed to produce the site grading and drainage plan during trial and pointed the finger to other entities who may have the site grading and drainage plan. Trial Tr. 606:2-21; 607:17-609:7; 625:14-626:25; 627:7-16; 644:1-23 (Flick - no site plan, but thought Thomas & Hutton did that plan); 757:1-25; 780:1-25; 790:9-24 (Russell Miller - no site plan, but Thomas & Hutton did that plan); 701:2-4; 703:8-22 (Schweickhardt, defense engineering expert, agreeing it was essential to have a site grading and drainage plan and stating he never saw a site grading and drainage plan for this development). On reply, a witness from one of those entities, Lamar Mercer of Thomas & Hutton, testified that Thomas & Hutton did not perform any engineering services for the Lake Estates development, which would include providing a site grading and drainage plan for the development. Trial Tr. 810:17-811:8.⁴

⁴ Thomas & Hutton repeatedly asked Lake Estates, Flick, and Miller about starting the engineering portion of the site development, but failed to receive one reply regarding these services. Thomas & Hutton finally terminated their efforts to secure the

In addition to failing to have a site grading and drainage plan, Mr. Kern testified that the finished floor of the residential buildings was not eight inches above the exterior grade. Trial Tr. 366:25-367:5; 401:7-17. Mr. Kern testified the eight inches was industry standard, Trial Tr. 401:7-17, and that the structural drawings from the architect and structural engineer called for the eight inch distance between the finished floor and exterior grade. Trial Tr. 265:14-266:11.

Mr. Kern on cross examination verified that the finished floor elevations, as set by Thomas & Hutton, were accurate. Trial Tr. 403:19-24. On further cross examination, Mr. Kern testified that the defect in the construction by Miller Construction was “the grading away from the buildings was not there,” Trial Tr. 416:4-5; not the finished pad elevations.

B. Testimony of Kendall and Kimmig

Mr. Kendall testified that he never saw a site grading and drainage plan for his entire time living in the development. Trial Tr. 304:8-15. The only drainage plan the POA has was when the homeowners attempted map the existing drainage and gutter system themselves. Trial Tr. 294:9-295:16.

Mr. Kimmig testified that he never saw a site grading and drainage plan, he has seen the architectural and structural drawings, but the site grading plan is missing. He also testified that the finished floor was not eight inches above the exterior grade, for his unit and a couple others around the development. Trail Tr. 497:15-498:6.

C. Testimony of Robert Miller, 30(b)(6) designee of Miller Construction

Plaintiff designated portions of Miller Construction’s 30(b)(6) deposition that establish the work Miller Construction performed at the site. This work included digging

engineering services for the Lake Estates development and recommended Flick and Miller hire another engineer.

out the adjacent lake and relocating the soil to build up the development area at Lake Estates prior to vertical construction, digging the buildings foundations, rough grading the site, and installed the drainage piping. Trial Tr. 458:25-460:7.

Miller Construction then designated portions of the same deposition to support their reliance on Thomas & Hutton, who developed the finished pad elevation drawing, and Coastal Surveying for setting the stakes for Miller Construction to grade too. Trial Tr. 462:4-463:13. Robert Miller, as designee of Miller Construction, testified there was a site plan at the job trailer “and it had the elevations on there.” Trial Tr. 463:24. He testified that Miller Construction set the grade “plus or minus one or two inches,” Trial Tr. 463:19, and that their work was the subgrading.⁵

D. Directed verdict argument

In support of its directed verdict motion, Miller Construction said it followed the site grading and drainage plan as designed by the engineer and the surveying company. Since it followed the plan from the engineer and the surveying company, Miller Construction did not violate an industry standard and it could not be held liable for any defects in the site grading plan. Trial Tr. 563:23-568:24. The trial court granted Miller Construction’s directed verdict finding it agreed with the arguments of counsel. Trial Tr. 571:3-9. The trial court denied Plaintiff’s motions to reconsider the ruling twice. Trial Tr. 722:5-22; 813-21.

E. The trial court erred by weighing and determining the credibility of witnesses rather than the existence or nonexistence of evidence when granting Miller Construction a directed verdict

⁵ Robert Miller later testified during the defendants case in chief that and on cross examination testified that the rough grade sets the slope, swales, and other mechanisms for diverting water. Trial Tr. 665:23-666:12.

The evidence presented to the trial court during the Plaintiff's case in chief shows a violation of the industry standard while setting the exterior grade for the coach homes at Lake Estates. The evidence also shows that Miller Construction violated the industry standard by not using a site grading and drainage plan while installing the rough grade at the development. Finally, the work that was done setting the rough grade was defective according to Mr. Kern.

Miller Construction's evidence showed that Thomas & Hutton set the finished pad elevation and that Coastal Surveying set those pads at the site. What is missing from their testimony is that Thomas & Hutton designed the grading at the site and Coastal Surveying physically set that grade from that site grading and drainage plan. At the time of the directed verdict motion, there was no evidence of a site grading and drainage plan in evidence. In fact, there was testimony that Mr. Kern didn't even think a site grading and drainage plan existed for the site and testimony that a site grading and drainage plan had never been produce or seen by anyone other than an employee of Miller Construction. Trial Tr. 364:15-22; 370:24-371:5; 371:21-372:4; 373:1-14.

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