THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000247

RECEIVED

SEP 27 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Lake Estates Property Owners Association, Inc.,.....Appellant,

v.

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **If the Court reverses the directed verdict in favor of Miller Construction, the Court should remand the case to the trial judge to decide whether to grant a new trial absolute or a partial new trial**

The trial court has discretion to determine whether a new trial absolute or a partial new trial is proper. As stated above, “The Trial Judge has inherent power to award a new trial and is necessarily vested with wide discretion in deciding whether the verdict of the jury should be permitted to stand.” Williams v. Williams, 246 S.C. 158, 161, 142 S.E.2d 858, 860 (1965). Additionally, “The trial judge is in the best position to determine the credibility of the jurors; therefore, this Court should grant him broad deference on this issue.” State v. Kelly, 331 S.C. 132, 142, 502 S.E.2d 99, 104 (1998) (Citing State v. Johnson, 248 S.C. 153, 149 S.E.2d 348 (1966) (the question of the impartiality of the juror is addressed to the discretion of the trial judge); State v. Loftis, 232 S.C. 35, 100 S.E.2d 671 (1957) (refusing to interfere with the discretion of a trial judge in matters involving the jury because the trial judge has the opportunity to consider the credibility of the jurors)).

If the Court of Appeals determines that the directed verdict was granted in error, then the case should properly be remanded to the trial court to decide whether to grant a partial new trial or a new trial absolute. The trial judge would be in the best position to make this determination, and then that ruling would properly be evaluated under the abuse of discretion standard. The Plaintiff is asking the Court of Appeals to substitute its evaluation of the jury for that of the trial judge, and this should not be done in this instance. The decision to grant a new trial absolute or a partial new trial hinges on whether it appears that the jury verdict in favor of Estate Builders was influenced by the dismissal of Miller Construction, and the trial judge is in the best position to make this ruling.

II. The standard that should be applied to deciding whether to grant a partial new trial or a new trial absolute

Rule 59(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure allows the Court of Appeals, at its discretion, to order a new trial against one defendant or against all defendants. When addressing this rule, all of the cases in South Carolina and in other jurisdictions have applied a similar standard. In South Carolina and elsewhere, “The common thread which runs through these decisions [to grant a new trial absolute] is that in each case the court thought as a result of a totality of the circumstances that the issue sought to be excluded by a partial new trial had not been properly determined initially even though the obvious error complained of related to the other issue or issues.” Williams v. Slade, 431 F.2d 605, 609 (5th Cir. 1970).

A. The South Carolina Contribution Among Joint Tortfeasors Act

The Plaintiff takes the position that because apportionment is possible under S.C. Code Ann. §15-38-10 to 70, “a straightforward application of this Act leads to the conclusion that if three defendants have potential liability on the same claims, the wrongful dismissal of one defendant will require a new trial as to all defendants.”⁷³ A straightforward application of the Act requires no such thing. SC Code Ann. §15-28-15(A) provides, “if indivisible damages are determined to be proximately caused by more than one defendant....” In this case, the jury determined that Estate Builders was not responsible for the Plaintiff’s damages. The Act does not apply to this situation at all. If the jury had found one of the remaining Co-Defendants liable, then perhaps a new trial should be granted as to all at-fault parties, but when the two remaining Co-Defendants are absolved of liability, the Contribution statute has no applicability.

B. South Carolina Cases

⁷³ Appellant’s initial brief, Argument section II, P.14.

The South Carolina courts have never addressed the specific scenario presented here, but the courts have applied Rule 59(a) in other instances, and these cases provide guidance. The key determination is whether there is reason to believe the error of law as to one defendant or issue affected the outcome of an unrelated defendant or issue.

1. Gray v. Green Const. Co.

In Gray v. Green Const. Co., the issue was whether a joint verdict against DOT and Green Construction could stand as to Green after DOT was dismissed by JNOV. Green argued on appeal that the jury would not have rendered the verdict it did if the Highway Department had not been a defendant at trial. Gray v. Green Const. Co. of Indiana, 263 S.C. 554, 556, 211 S.E.2d 871, 872 (1975). Green cited several cases in which the Court granted a new trial to all Defendants because of an error of law as to one. The court addressed each of these cases, and pointed out that in each case, there was reason to believe that the verdict was larger because of the presence of the Co-Defendant who was subsequently dismissed than it would have been had the case been tried against the remaining Defendant alone. For example, the Gray court analyzed a case in which a verdict was entered against a large corporation and a individual employee. See Gray at 558–59, 874 (citing Courtney v. American Railway Express Co., 120 S.C. 511, 113 S.E. 332 (1922)). Gray held, “The Courtney case is readily distinguishable from the instant case, we think, because there was a substantial verdict against a large corporation and an individual employee, which included damages which were largely discretionary, and possibly, if not probably, punitive damages. If the individual defendant had not been granted a new trial he would have been held liable for a verdict which the jury most probably would not have returned against him, alone.” Id. at 558, 873.

Turning to the case before it, the Gray Court then held:

[I]t appears that there was evidence from which the damages allegedly sustained by the plaintiff to his land and crops were capable of reasonable, accurate calculation by the jury and the verdict was for only actual damages. The case is, we think, clearly distinguishable from all of the cases relied upon by the appellant in that there are no special circumstances which would give rise to the probability that the verdict would have been any less had the appellant Green been sued alone. Absent special circumstances, none of which are present in the instant case, the general rule of modern law is as follows: ‘Although the early common-law rule was different, in most jurisdictions today, a judgment against multiple tortfeasors may be reversed as to one such defendant without affecting the judgment as to the others....’”

Id. at 558–59, 874. It is clear that the key determination is whether the facts of the case present a reason to believe the verdict would have been different if the dismissed defendant had not been at trial.

2. Industrial Welding Supplies v. Atlas Vending Co., Inc.

In the case of Industrial Welding Supplies, Inc. v. Atlas Vending Co., Inc., the South Carolina Supreme Court first allowed a new trial on damages instead of a new trial absolute. See 276 S.C. 196, 277 S.E.2d 885 (1981). The Court set forth the test for whether a court may grant a new trial on a single issue, holding, “[W]here there are distinct jury issues, and the issue as to which a new trial is required is separate from all other issues, and the error requiring new trial does not affect the determination of any other issue, the scope of new trial may be limited to the single issue.” Id. at 201, 888.

3. Cartin v. Keller Bldg. Products of Charleston

In the case of Cartin v. Keller Bldg. Products of Charleston, the Court applied the Industrial Welding test, but found that a new trial was necessary on both liability and damages because the verdict showed that the damages issue likely infected the jury’s liability determination. See 299 S.C. 152, 382 S.E.2 922 (1989). In Cartin, the Plaintiff

tripped on carpet sold by Keller, and the issue was whether the installer was Keller's employee or an independent contractor. The jury found that Keller was liable but awarded one dollar in damages. The Plaintiff moved for a new trial on damages only, and the Defendant moved for a new trial absolute. The trial judge granted the Plaintiff's motion for a new trial on damages only. The Supreme Court reversed because the damages award was grossly inadequate and because during the deliberations, the jury requested definitions of "independent contractor" and "agent," but the request was denied. The Court held "While a grossly inadequate award of damages by itself does not require retrying the liability issue, suspicion should be aroused if the jury awards only nominal damages, disregarding uncontested and obvious damages," and, "This Court finds that the allegation of construction defects and the jury's request for definitions of agent and independent contractor connote a close intertwining of the issues involving liability and damages in this case and directly affects the determination of damages. Therefore, we conclude that the appellant is entitled to a new trial absolute." Id. at 154, 923.

The three cases above show that the specific facts and circumstances of each case determine whether a new trial absolute is appropriate. When the Court found evidence that indicated that an error of law as to one issue or defendant affected the outcome as to another issue or Defendant, then it ordered a new trial absolute. When the Court did not believe the error affected an unrelated issue or defendant, then it did not order a new trial absolute.

4. Roddey v. Wal-Mart

The Plaintiff cites one South Carolina case, Roddey v. Wal-Mart, for the proposition that if the directed verdict in favor of Miller Construction is reversed, the Plaintiff should also get a new trial against the Defendant Estate Builders. Roddy does not support this proposition. In Roddy, the Plaintiff was the estate of a getaway driver who drove a suspected shoplifter away from Defendant Wal-Mart. She was pursued by a security guard employed by Defendant USAA. Walmart was granted a directed verdict. At the conclusion of the trial, the jury apportioned fault between the Plaintiff and USAA, assigning 65% to the Plaintiff and 35% to USAA. See Roddey v. Wal-Mart Stores E., LP, 415 S.C. 580, 592, 784 S.E.2d 670, 676–77 (2016), reh'g denied (May 5, 2016). The Court reversed, finding, “Considering Wal–Mart's potential liability, it is conceivable that a jury could find that the collective fault of the defendants was over fifty percent and that Hancock was less than fifty percent at fault. In light of the reversal of the directed verdict as to Wal–Mart's liability, the only appropriate remedy in this situation is a new trial.” Id.

The situation in Roddy is easily distinguishable from the case at hand. Roddy was a comparative negligence case where one of the parties against whom the jury must apportion fault was improperly dismissed, and the Co-Defendant, USAA, was found to be at fault by the jury. In order to determine whether the Plaintiff was more than 50% at fault against both defendants, both defendants would have to be in the trial.

In the case at hand, Estate Builders was exonerated by the jury, and comparative fault is not at issue. The jury can determine whether Miller Construction is liable to the Plaintiff without Estate Builders in the case. Therefore, Roddy does not mandate a new

trial against Estate. Additionally, Roddy does not state any test for determining how to decide the issue at hand.

C. Cases from other jurisdictions

The cases cited by the Plaintiff from other jurisdictions support looking at the specific facts of the case to determine whether there is evidence that the dismissal of Miller Construction somehow affected the verdict in favor of Estate Builders.

1. Buffett v. Vargas

The Plaintiff cites the New Mexico case of Buffett v. Vargas to support its position that a new trial should be granted as to all Defendants, but Buffett actually undercuts the Plaintiff's reliance on Roddey to support granting a new trial against an exonerated Defendant. In Buffet, fault was apportioned between the plaintiff, a non-party, and one of four defendants. The other three defendants were exonerated. The Plaintiff appealed the admission of certain evidence, and the Court of Appeals held the evidence should have been suppressed and awarded a new trial against all of the defendants. The Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeals on the evidence issues, remanded the case to the Court of Appeals to consider other issues raised in the appeal but not ruled upon, and gave the Court of Appeals guidance on the issue of a new trial against the exonerated defendants. The Court held, "Apparently the Court [of Appeals] reasoned that the doctrine of comparative negligence requires retrial of all defendants, even when error is found only as to one. We agree that, when the jury has apportioned fault between several negligent parties and error infects the verdict as to one [the situation in Roddey], retrial may be appropriate as to the other negligent party. However, when the jury has found one of the parties not to be negligent, that party should not automatically be subject to

retrial with respect to apportioning fault.” Buffett v. Vargas, 1996-NMSC-012, 121 N.M. 507, 512–13, 914 P.2d 1004, 1009–10 (1996). The Court adopted a similar test to Industrial Welding Supplies, holding, “the test for determining whether a party can be excluded from an order for a new trial is whether there is a clear showing that the issues in the case are so distinct and separable that a party may be excluded without prejudice.” Id. at 513, 1010.

2. Williams v. Slade

The Plaintiff cites the Federal case of Williams v. Slade for the proposition that the Court can order a new trial against an exonerated defendant. See 431 F.2d 60 (1970). As noted in Williams, the US Supreme Court has held, “Where the practice permits a partial new trial, it may not be resorted to unless it clearly appears that the issue to be retried is so distinct and separable from the others that a trial of it alone may be had without injustice.” Id. at 608 (citing Gasoline Products Co. v. Champlin Refining Co., 283 U.S. 494, 51 S.Ct. 513, 75 L.Ed. 1188 (1931)). This rule is exactly the same as the New Mexico standard, and it is substantially similar to the South Carolina standards set forth in Gray and Industrial Welding Supplies.

Williams then examines how to apply this test. The Court cites several cases where “Partial new trials as to damages alone have been rejected when it appeared that the error on the damage issue affected the determination of liability,” and “[l]ikewise, when it appeared that the damage issue had been resolved in a purely academic atmosphere because the liability issue had already been decided adversely to the Plaintiff, courts have refused to grant a partial new trial as to liability alone when error was committed regarding that issue.” Id. at 608-609. The Williams court holds, “The

common thread which runs through these decisions is that in each case the court thought as a result of a totality of the circumstances that the issue sought to be excluded by a partial new trial had not been properly determined initially even though the obvious error complained of related to the other issue or issues." Id. at 609 (5th Cir. 1970). This statement applies equally to all of the standards above, and states well the analysis involved in applying the standards.

In Williams, the Plaintiff Williams was a passenger in one vehicle that collided with another vehicle in an intersection controlled by a traffic signal. During the Plaintiff's case in chief, Ms. Williams and the driver of her vehicle, Mrs. Treadwell, both testified that Mrs. Treadwell had the green light. The driver of the other vehicle, Mr. Slade, did not testify during the Plaintiff's case, and Mrs. Treadwell was dismissed at directed verdict. Mr. Slade testified in his case-in-chief that he had the green light, and the jury exonerated him.

The Williams court reversed the directed verdict as to Treadwell, and then ordered a new trial against both defendants, holding:

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